the measurement of the size range and number distribution of airborne particles related to automotive sources - a literature study

Prepared for the CONCAWE Automotive Emissions Management Group and based on work carried out by the Special Task Force on Diesel Fuel Emissions, (AE/STF-7).

P Heinze (Chairman)

- P. Gadd H. Guttmann Mrs D.E. Hall R. Mercogliano N. Mann G. Nancekievill F. Renault
- R. C. Hutcheson (Technical Coordinator)

This draft may contain conclusions which are incomplete or subject to change. It should not, therefore, be copied or reproduced in other ways, or be passed to parties outside CONCAWE participating companies.

Reproduction permitted with due acknowledgement

© CONCAWE Brussels April 1996

ABSTRACT

This report reviews the literature relating to particulate size measurement and the techniques suggested for different applications. Successful measurements have been made using cascade impactors, which give gravimetric analysis of sized fractions and electrical mobility techniques, which give number distributions of sized fractions. It is recommended that this approach be employed in the assessment of automotive particulate emissions. Because the subsequent fate of these emissions are subject to many complex and confounding factors, their measurement "at the tail-pipe" has only a tenuous relationship with air quality particulate inventories.

KEYWORDS

Diesel, emissions, particulates, Pm, particulate size

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The Automotive Emissions Management Group of CONCAWE and its Special Task Force, AE/STF-7, are indebted to Mrs Diane Hall for her major contribution to this report.

NOTE

Considerable efforts have been made to assure the accuracy and reliability of the information contained in this publication. However, neither CONCAWE nor any company participating in CONCAWE can accept liability for any loss, damage or injury whatsoever resulting from the use of this information.

This report does not necessarily represent the views of any company participating in CONCAWE.

CONTENTS				
SUMMAR	RY	IV		
1.	BACKGROUND.	1		
2.	DEFINITION OF PARTICLES AND AEROSOLS.			
3.	DEFINITION OF PARTICLE DIAMETER 3			
4.	METHODOLOGY FOR MEASURING PARTICLE SIZE AND NUMBER.	5		
	 4.1. SEPARATION BY SEDIMENTATION/INERTIA 4.1.1. Cascade Impactors 4.1.2. Cyclones and Centrifuges 4.1.3. Aerodynamic Particle Sizer and Aerosizer 4.2. OPTICAL METHODS/MICROSCOPY 4.2.1. Light Scattering Techniques 4.2.2. Microscopy 4.3. ELECTRICAL MOBILITY 4.3.1. Electrical Aerosol Analyser 4.3.2. Differential Mobility Analysers 	5 5 6 6 6 7 7 8 8		
5.	CALIBRATION OF INSTRUMENTS	9		
6.	AIR QUALITY MONITORING EXPERIMENTS	10		
7.	EXPERIENCE IN THE MEASUREMENT OF AUTOMOTIVE PARTICULATE	11		
8.	CONCLUSIONS	13		
9.	RECOMMENDATIONS	15		
10.	REFERENCES	16		

SUMMARY

Airborne particulate, to which diesel engines contribute a significant amount, is an issue both with relation to air quality and health concerns. Recent worries have been raised concerning the size range and the number distribution of the particles within the total. All automotive vehicles are believed to emit particles in the 'ultrafine' range (i.e. <1 μ m) but the data are very limited and various techniques of uncertain scientific veracity are purported to measure these parameters.

This document reviews the literature relating to particle size measurement and the applications suggested for different techniques. Successful measurements have been made using electrical mobility techniques and it is recommended that this approach be taken for the assessment of automotive particulate.

1. BACKGROUND

Since 1992, legislation has been in place in Europe to control the weight of particulate emitted to the atmosphere from both light and heavy duty diesel vehicles. Legislation has progressively tightened to reduce the allowable mass to 0.08 g/km for light duty vehicles¹ and 0.15 g/kWh for heavy duty vehicles² in 1996. Current legislation does not consider particulate emissions from gasoline vehicles.

Particulate has been regarded as a problem associated with diesel vehicles. Gasoline vehicles do emit particulate, although at a very low level (approximately 0.01 g/km). However, as legislation has tightened, and diesel emissions reduced, gasoline particles must now also be taken into account, especially considering the high percentage of gasoline vehicles in the car parc. The UK Particulate Inventory³ list automotive sources as causing 27% of total UK PM10 (particulate with a mean aerodynamic diameter of 10 μ m or less) of which a third is estimated to originate from gasoline vehicles.

There has been continued debate on two aspect of the possible health effects of particulate. First, it has been suggested that diesel particulate is carcinogenic due to the polycyclic aromatic compounds adsorbed on the surface of the particles.⁴⁻⁷ The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has reviewed all the available data and classified diesel exhaust as a Group 2A carcinogen i.e. probably carcinogenic to humans.³

The second issue related to the effect of particulate air pollution on morbidity/mortality.⁸⁻¹¹ It is known that members of the general population with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease are particularly at risk during episodes of severe particulate air pollution. It is believed that particles with a mean aerodynamic diameter of 10 μ m or less (PM10) are primarily responsible for the effects. However, there is growing evidence that particles with a mean aerodynamic diameter of 2.5 μ m or less (PM2.5) could be more important in the development of health effects.

In 1974, Miller¹² investigated which size of particulate needed to be considered in order to set a standard for inhalable particles. Recently (1994), Friedlander and Lipmann¹³ have addressed the same issue and stress the need for harmonisation of standards.

Recent air quality monitoring in the UK has focused on the mass of particulate below 10 μ m and a level of 50 μ g/m³ has been proposed as an annual standard. In the US a PM10 standard was set by the EPA in 1986, with values of 150 μ g/m³ (24 hours) and 50 μ g/m³ (annual PM10). The EPA in the US has now shifted the emphasis from PM10 to smaller particles (PM2.5) and indeed examine the ratio of the two as a measure of air quality. Literature shows that automotive particulate fall predominantly in this smaller size range. Measurement of ambient atmospheric aerosol number concentration was reported by Willeke and Whitby in 1975¹⁵ who suggested that an urban aerosol may reach particle concentrations of 4,000,000/cm³.

Data on the size distribution and the numbers of particles emitted from automotive sources are very limited. Different techniques for particle size measurement are available, each with their individual limitations. It is the aim of this document to review existing methods, their applications in the literature and to recommend a suitable route for the measurement of automotive particulate.

2. DEFINITION OF PARTICLES AND AEROSOLS

An automotive particle consists primarily of a carbon core onto which other chemical species (both organic and inorganic) are adsorbed. The exact chemistry of the particle will depend on fuel type, engine technology, speed and load conditions plus fuel and lubricant quality. The initial carbon particle (the nucleation mode) is probably spherical, but the shape will change as the particle cools and other species adsorb onto it (condensation mode). Finally particles may collide and join together (agglomeration mode), depending on their local environment (e.g. concentration, velocity, composition) before being emitted to the atmosphere as an aerosol. The size of the particle is greatly affected by external influences i.e. temperature, gas/vapour pressures of the hydrocarbons adsorbed and the relative humidity. There is also the possibility of exchange of chemicals between particles and for other species in the air (e.g. volatile organic compounds, sulphates) to adsorb onto them. As a result of these very complex interactions, aerosols are inherently unstable and thus the point of sampling is very important in order that results obtained are relevant for health effects. In the interpretation of particulate effect on air quality, weather has been shown to have the most confounding effect. In addition to the influence of humidity, temperature etc., wind, rain and snow will affect agglomeration, dispersion and deposition rates The sample measured must also be truly representative of the source to be analysed.

For measurement of automotive particles, sampling from the dilution tunnel will reduce further agglomeration and will allow consistent sampling. However, this will undoubtedly give values very different for both size and number from those actually emitted from the engine and possibly also from those encountered in the atmosphere. Work by Whitby¹⁶ shows differences in size distributions based on mass measurements from those calculated from particle counts. Particle counting can count volatile particulates that would be lost during mass measurement techniques.

It is generally accepted that sampling must be carried out isokinetically¹⁷ where the velocity of the sample stream is equal to the velocity of the gas stream being tested. Details of sampling techniques are given by Allen¹⁸ and Fan et al¹⁹ discuss how losses in isokinetic sampling can be avoided.

There are extensive standards in both the UK and US which refer to aerosol monitoring.

The diesel aerosol is polydisperse i.e. it has a wide range of particle sizes but generally appears to have a bimodal distribution²⁰ with ranges reflecting the nucleation ($0.0075 - 0.056 \mu m$) and agglomeration ($0.056 - 1.0 \mu m$) modes. Ambient aerosol is also bimodal²¹ with peaks below 1µm and between 5-15 µm. The size and number of the particles measured by any technique is also subject to alteration by inconsistent sampling and losses in the instrument used. Biswas²² describes distortion that can occur in measurements as a result of condensation and evaporation.

3. DEFINITION OF PARTICLE DIAMETER

There is only one true measurement of particle size which is the geometric diameter of a sphere. However, very few particles are spherical and therefore all nonspherical particles are quoted in terms of the diameter of an equivalent sphere exhibiting similar behaviour. The same non-spherical particle can have different diameters assigned to it depending on the way it is measured¹¹³ and likewise differently shaped particles may have the same equivalent diameter assigned to them. There are many different forces acting on a particle in a gas stream, (flow forces - drag, lift; field forces - gravity, electrical, magnetic, centrifugal; inertial forces; inter-particle forces - impact, friction, adhesion; diffusion forces - thermophoretic, photophoretic, Brownian, composition). Thus, any technique used for the measurement of particle size must take into account a thorough understanding of the way the particles behave.

There are several different methods available for the measurement of particle size, each with an optimum size range that can be measured. Great care needs to be exercised both in the interpretation of data and in the comparison of data generated by different techniques. The interpretation of size is based on the diameter definition of the measurement procedure and particulate data can be represented in terms of numbers, volumes or mass. **Table 1** shows the optimum size range of particles measured by the different techniques⁸⁴ which are discussed in detail in **Section 4**.

Operating Principle	Technique	Optimum Size range (μm)	Diameter
Sedimentation/Inertia	Cascade Impactor	0.5-15	Aerodynamic
	Low pressure Impactor	0.05-15	"
	MOUDI ¹	0.05-15	"
	Cyclone/Centrifuge	0.08-15	"
	Aerodynamic Particle Sizer	0.5-30	"
	Aerosizer	0.5-200	"
Optical	Nephelometry	0.3-100	Geometric
Microscopy	Optical	2-100	H
	SEM/TEM ²	0.01-100	"
Electrical Mobility	Electrical Aerosol Analyser	0.01-1.0	Electrical mobility
	SMPS ³ /DMPS ⁴	0.01-1.0	"

Table 1 Size ranges measured by available techniques.

1. MOUDI Micro Orifice Uniform Deposit Impactor 2.

SEM/TEM Scanning/Transmission Electron Microscope

Scanning Mobility Particle Sizer SMPS

DMPS **Differential Mobility Particle Sizer** 4.

3.

Owing to the nature of the aerosol the diameters of the particles are not easy to define. As stated, some may be spherical but many are chain applomerates. There

are several definitions of particle diameter that can be applied to the aerosol and the techniques used for its measurement may measure different things.⁷⁸

The first diameter is the *geometric* diameter which can be measured directly by the use of microscopy and optical methods. The other two techniques commonly employed involve imposing a force on the particle,⁷⁸ with the nature of the force defining the diameter measured.

The cascade impactors and the cyclones expose the particles to mechanical forces which enables the particles to be classified according to their *aerodynamic* diameter. This is defined as "the diameter of a particle with equal settling velocity to the particle under study but with a density of 1 g/cm³". The aerodynamic diameter depends on the geometric diameter, the density and the shape of the particle. The collection efficiency of an impactor stage is usually plotted against Stokes number, itself a function of the aerodynamic diameter.⁷⁸ The mathematical relationship between the Stokes and the aerodynamic diameters has been discussed in detail by Hering.⁷⁹ The *Stokes diameter* is defined as 'the diameter of a sphere which has the same density and the same settling velocity as the particle under study'.³⁹ For spherical particles the geometric diameter is equal to the Stokes diameter. Using the aerodynamic diameter removes the need to determine the particle density.

The other major category of analyser involves electrically charging the particles to be measured. The diameter measured under such circumstances is called the *electrical mobility* diameter. The electrical mobility diameter as defined as 'the diameter of a spherical particle, which when charged under the same conditions, has the same electrical mobility as the particle under study'.³⁹ Particles which have negligible inertial mass are usually separated by electrical techniques.

Particles of equal Stokes number that carry the same electric charge will have the same electric mobility. Particles of equal density and equal Stokes diameter will have the same settling velocity i.e. aerodynamic diameter. Particles with the same size and shape but different densities will have the same Stokes diameter but different aerodynamic diameters. It must also be remembered that the Stokes equation is only followed when the particle is in laminar not turbulent flow (i.e. low Reynolds number).

Literature referring to the health effects of particles generally refers to the aerodynamic diameter of the particle. Both Stokes and aerodynamic diameters are important and it is known that a correlation exists between them.⁷⁹ However, the electrical mobility diameter is more conveniently and accurately measured.

4. METHODOLOGY FOR MEASURING PARTICLE SIZE AND NUMBER

4.1. SEPARATION BY SEDIMENTATION/INERTIA

This technique includes cascade impactors, cyclones, centrifuges and the Aerosizer. These give gravimetric measurements and also give the potential for subsequent chemical analysis of size separated fractions. Particle sizes are reported as aerodynamic diameter (see **Section 3**) which removes the need to determine the particle density.

4.1.1. Cascade Impactors

Cascade impactors are by far the most commonly used technique for aerosol sampling. The principle of cascade impaction for the size separation of airborne particles was introduced in 1945.²³ Measurements using this technique have been made on a wide range of sources, including automotive.^{16, 17, 21, 24-29} The theory of the inertial separation of particles by cascade impaction was developed as early as 1931.³⁰ Details of the development of the technique and the associated theory are given by Pilat.¹⁷ A book dealing with the subject has been written by Lodge³¹ and details of the range of available cascade impactors are available from Graseby Andersen.³² These consist of a series of plates, each of which is perforated with holes of a certain size (D50 i.e. the diameter at which the collection efficiency is 50%). The size reduces successively with each plate. The aerosol under test is passed through the plates with smaller particles remaining airborne longer to reach lower plates. Details of the operation of a cascade impactor are given in ¹⁷ Problems with particle bounce have been reported and may give rise to false readings. Wang and John³³ and also Marple³⁴ have reported in detail on this phenomenon and how to overcome it.

Disadvantages of the cascade impactor are that they cannot accurately measure ultrafine particles and take too long to perform measurements which precludes realtime testing.

The size limitations have been overcome by the use of low-pressure impactors and the MOUDI (Micro Orifice Uniform Deposit Impactor) which can collect particles down to 0.05 µm. Details of the evaluation and calibration of this real-time impactor are given in³⁵ and the application of the technique to automotive measurement described by Venkataraman.³⁶ Evaluation and calibration of the MOUDI is given in ³⁷. The technique has been applied to the measurement of aerosols originating from the use of diesel engines in mines with good results.^{37, 38} The application of the MOUDI for diesel exhaust is discussed by Kittelson.³⁹ Lin¹⁴ has used the MOUDI to investigate the rate of deposition of particles as a function of their size.

The Quartz Crystal Microbalance (QCM) is another type of low pressure impactor that can also provide real-time measurement of the smaller particles.

The development of a new type of impactor - the vibrating tube impactor has been described by AEA Technology.⁴⁰ This allows different size particles to be simultaneously monitored.

4.1.2. Cyclones and Centrifuges

The first centrifugal device for separating aerosols into a continuous spectrum of sizes was called a conifuge and was developed in 1950.⁴¹ The first attempts were not very successful, but the principle was applied by Stöber²³ who developed the spinning spiral duct. Aerosol centrifuges have good size resolution (down to 0.08 μ m) and also give the advantage that subsequent analysis (chemical, microscopic) can be performed on the size separated fractions. Particles are precipitated according to their aerodynamic size in a (usually) conical shaped duct which is lined with either foil or collecting strip, which can be removed, sectioned, weighed and analysed.

For more detailed information, Moore and McFarland⁴² give a literature review of cyclone performance and the criteria needed for optimum operation. Work by Lipmann and Chan⁴³ summarises the use of cyclones for particles <10 μ m and remark that aerosol penetration in a cyclone can be used to model respiratory deposition.

4.1.3. Aerodynamic Particle Sizer and Aerosizer

The most sophisticated analytical techniques within this section are the Aerodynamic Particle Sizer (APS)^{44, 45} and the Aerosizer, which can measure particles down to 0.05µm. These techniques enable real time analysis of particles, by measuring the time of flight of the particle under study between two laser beams. Particles are accelerated from a nozzle and will lag behind the downstream air to an extent dependent on their aerodynamic diameter. The lasers measure this lag. Clarke⁴⁶ believes this technique to be unsuitable for the measurement of diesel exhaust because of their size. The density of the particles is important and corrections need to be applied.^{44, 47} Marshall^{48,49} has carried out extensive studies on the effect of the shape of the particle on the response of these instruments. The technique can severely undersize both non-spherical and the smaller particles. It was found that larger particles were oversized by the APS and marginally undersized by the Aerosizer. Details on the Aerosizer can be obtained from TSI.⁵⁰ Its use has not been recommended for the analysis of automotive particle assessment.

4.2. OPTICAL METHODS/MICROSCOPY

Overviews of the use of optical techniques for the application to diesel particulates are given in $^{46, 51}$.

4.2.1. Light Scattering Techniques

Light Scattering has been used to characterise both the size and shape of airborne particles.⁵² The amount of light scattered is a function of the particle size, shape, composition and surface and hence interpretation is difficult. Light scattering methods are most effective when the particles measured are in the same order of size as the wavelength of the incident radiation.¹⁸ Clarke⁴⁶ considers that the technique is not suitable for very small particles (< 1µm), as the efficiency of the light scattering decreases when the size of the particle falls below the wavelength of light. This can be overcome by using the particles as condensation nuclei for a liquid (e.g. butanol) to increase their diameter. This enables particles down to 0.01 µm to be detected and Heintzenberg⁵³ has successfully used optical techniques

for the measurement of submicron particles in clouds. Condensation Nuclei Counters (CNC) have no size discrimination and have to be used in conjunction with a sizing technique (e.g. a diffusion battery, a technique for separating very small particles by their diffusivity, i.e. Brownian motion), Electrical Aerosol Analyser (EAA) or Differential Mobility Analyser(DMA)). Combinations of this type were investigated by Kittelson in the measurement of diesel exhaust particulates.^{39, 54} Detailed product information relating to commercially available CNCs is published by TSI.⁵⁵ Further details on the application are given by Agarwal⁶¹ and details on the calibration by Liu and Pui.⁵⁷ Further work on the calibration of the particle counter with respect to non-spherical particles has been carried out by Buettner.⁵⁸

Light scattering techniques have been applied by Kievit⁵⁹ for the on-line measurement of particle size and also by Tree⁶⁰ for the measurement of the size and number of diesel particulates as a function of speed and load.

4.2.2. Microscopy

The use of electron microscopy (both scanning and transmission) enables a detailed analysis of the size and shape of particles. Kittelson²⁰ has successfully applied the technique to diesel exhaust. SEM can examine particles in the range of 0.01-0.2 μ m. A good overview of the technique is given by Lee and Fisher.⁶¹ Care needs to be taken with sampling as collection may cause distortion. Samples can be successfully prepared by electrostatic precipitation onto a filter or grid.⁴⁶

4.3. ELECTRICAL MOBILITY

The most referenced technique with respect to the size analysis of automotive particulate is electrical mobility.^{20, 39, 54, 62-65, 114-116} Kittelson³⁹ describes in detail the use of electrical mobility as a suitable technique, stating that 'the electrical mobility of a singly charged particle is a monotonic function of particle size'. He also comments that along with cascade impactors the use of electrical mobility is the most widely used means of sizing diesel particles.

The principle of the technique involves imparting a charge to the aerosol, which then flows through apparatus of opposing charge and can be separated onto surfaces, or into counters, depending on the size of the opposing charge. The stream of sized particles is then passed through a CNC.

There are two widely used commercial techniques - the Electrical Aerosol Analyser (EAA) and the Differential Mobility Analysers (DMA). The latter are divided into several specialised instruments e.g. Scanning Mobility Particle Sizer (SMPS), Differential Mobility Particle Sizer (DMPS) and Tandem Differential Mobility Analysers. A comparison of the techniques has been performed by Horton⁶⁶ who concluded that although the combination of the DMPS /CNC gave the most repeatable answers, the use of the EAA was better for real-time analysis.

The EAA provides a means of obtaining rapid low-resolution measurements of submicron size distributions.⁶⁷ The DMPS gives better size resolution than the EAA but has a measurement cycle time about 15 times longer. The new SMPS instrument offers better size resolution and a measurement cycle time of circa 2 minutes which makes it an ideal choice for the measurement of automotive particulates.

4.3.1. Electrical Aerosol Analyser

An early paper by Liu and Pui⁶⁸ gives details regarding the detailed operation of the EAA and its limitations. The paper also describes the application of the technique to the measurement of particles in ambient aerosols, rocket exhaust and also automotive aerosols.⁶⁹ Mulholland⁷⁰ compares the use of the EAA with other techniques. Although the EAA had been used widely for the measurement of monodisperse aerosols (where the particles are all the same size), the application to polydisperse aerosols was less well understood. Although generally good agreement between the techniques was observed, it was considered that the accuracy of the EAA was affected by particle shape. The application of EAA to air monitoring is described by Eldering.⁷¹

4.3.2. Differential Mobility Analysers

Wang and Flagan⁷² describe in detail the use of the Scanning Electrical Mobility Spectrometer. The development of both the EAA and the DMPS has led to electrical mobility becoming the standard technique for the analysis of small particles (<0.1 μ m). However, measurement of changing aerosols gives problems because of the finite time needed to perform measurements. This restriction has led to the development of the SMPS where the electric field is scanned continuously, rather than in discrete steps. The technique has been used by MIRA⁷³ to measure the size and number distribution of particles emitted from both diesel and gasoline engines under steady state conditions.

Mayer⁷⁴ has used the DMA to investigate the size of particles downstream of a particulate trap, measuring particles down to 20 nm. Flagan⁷⁵ has also measured very small particles (2-3 nm) using the DMA whilst monitoring the formation of secondary particulate.

The Tandem Differential Mobility Analyser has been used to measure changes in particle sizes due either to changes in relative humidity⁷⁶, or due to evaporation and condensation.⁷⁷

5. CALIBRATION OF INSTRUMENTS

All techniques need careful calibration. If the properties of the aerosol under test differ to those of the calibration medium, the results may be misleading. There are many references relating to the difficulty in the accurate calibration of the various techniques. Calibration of instruments takes place with spherical particles of unit density and it has been shown that sometimes measurement of non-spherical particles is under or over estimated depending on geometric shape.⁴⁸ Karg et al⁸⁰ describe the effects of relative humidity and gas flow on the size of monodisperse latex particles measured with the DMA. This problem was also assessed by Biswas²² using a cascade impactor. Fairchild and Wheat³⁵ describe the calibration for the Aerodynamic Particle Sizer (APS-300). Calibration and use of the MOUDI is described by Marple et al.³⁷

6. AIR QUALITY MONITORING EXPERIMENTS

Air quality monitoring has taken place since the 1960's. Networks are in place in both the US,⁸¹ controlled by the EPA and in the UK⁸² as part of the Department of Environment Urban Network. The latter was set up in 1992. Air quality monitoring for particulate originally involved sampling ambient aerosols for Total Suspended Particulate (TSP)⁸³ or Black Smoke. As health concerns have now focused on smaller particles, more measurements now concentrate on PM10. This means that the cut-off diameter for which the measurement device has a collection efficiency of 50% (D50) is 10µm. Larger particles may still be collected but the collection efficiency is much lower.⁸⁴ The US EPA imposed a PM10 standard in 1986. Many different countries do have air quality standards for particulate but as yet there is no uniformity with standards either for Black Smoke, Total Suspended Particles or PM10.

The instrument most commonly used for this measurement is the TEOM (Tapering Element Oscillating Microbalance) which gives a gravimetric total of all PM10. Rupprecht ⁸⁵ describes the use of the TEOM for this application.

Size measurement of particles in air was referenced by Whitby^{16, 21} in the early seventies, where data were collected using an Anderson Cascade Impactor. The cascade impactor was also used by Berner⁸⁶ for the same application. There have been a number of detailed references looking at ambient aerosol size distributions using other techniques: EAA^{71,87} and MOUDI⁸⁸

Work has now been extended, not only to monitor the size range and number distribution of the ambient aerosol but also to investigate specific particles (e.g. inorganic ions (sulphate, nitrate)^{24, 89, 90} hydrocarbon droplets^{26, 36, 91, 92}). Milford^{93,94} has published reviews on the sizes of inorganic particulates (ions and trace metal) in the atmosphere. Measurements have also been made to understand in more detail the factors that affect particulate size e.g. relative humidity^{22, 76, 80, 95, 96} and how their size affects their deposition.¹⁴

Particles in the air may be either primary (emitted directly from their source e.g. combustion of fossil fuel) or secondary (formed in the atmosphere) and both may originate from either man-made or biological sources.⁸⁴ Contributions to the ambient aerosol from fugitive dust are also highly significant. Chemical analysis of particles can give a very accurate 'fingerprint' of the source of the particle and it has been found that particles from specific sources have distinctive ranges of size.^{27, 36, 59, 91, 92, 97-100}

⁹⁷⁻¹⁰⁰ Extensive work in this area has been carried out by Friedlander⁹⁷ as early as 1970 and he claims that "a complete description of the atmospheric aerosol would include an accounting of the chemical composition, morphology, size of each particle and the relative abundance of each particle type as a function of size".

Sampling aerosols and obtaining a range of size distribution data with corresponding chemical analysis can be used by modellers to attribute sources and calculate quantities of particulate emitted to the atmosphere from each source.¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰³ Modelling however may not reflect the true air quality situation, where it has been shown that the major confounding effects on particles are due to the weather conditions. Thus a model provides only a 'snapshot' of the situation.

7. EXPERIENCE IN THE MEASUREMENT OF AUTOMOTIVE PARTICULATE

Early work on the size distribution of the particles in diesel exhaust was carried out by Kittelson et al.^{20, 62} Measurements were performed on dilute exhaust using the Electrical Aerosol Analyser (EAA) in combination with a transmission electron microscope. Later work⁶³ by Kittelson involved the roadway measurement of diesel aerosols, now using a condensation nuclei counter (CNC) with the EAA. Kittelson et al have also reported³⁹ a comparison of different size distribution techniques (EAA, Diffusion battery with CNC, MOUDI) for the application to diesel exhaust. The MOUDI has also been used^{37, 38} to investigate in-mine diesel emissions. Pierson²⁹ reported on the measurement of particles in tunnel experiments in Pennsylvania based on data collected from an Andersen cascade impactor. Following the collection of the samples, the fractions were subjected to detailed chemical analysis. This paper gives extensive references relating to the size and composition of all automotive particulate. Venkataraman³⁶ has successfully applied the low pressure impactor to the measurement of automotive emissions.

Other investigations of diesel exhaust particle size distributions have been made by Groblicki,¹⁰⁴ Patschull¹⁰⁵ (using the SMPS) and Rogge.¹⁰⁶ Groblicki reports that there was no consistent effect of speed on particle size although increasing load had a tendency to increase the sizes. Recent work by Kittelson²² describes how real time measurements of total, volatile and non-volatile particles can be made in vehicle exhaust using the EAA in combination with the CNC. Most of the results available in the literature refer to steady state testing. Lepperhoff of FEV et al¹¹⁴ describe in detail the size measurement and percentage distribution of particles from four light duty diesel vehicles (also using the EAA) over the Federal test cycle. Samples were collected that were representative of the complete cycle and distributions were found to be very similar for all four vehicles, showing no difference between direct injection (DI) and indirect injection (IDI). Distribution of the particles showed maxima at 13 nm and also (for 3 vehicles) at 237 nm. The high speed direct injection (HSDI) engine was seen to give the lowest number of small particles (<100 nm) but a higher number of larger particles (>400 nm).

In a further paper describing this work, Hammerle et al¹¹⁵ describes in detail size distribution data from six light duty vehicles over both Federal and European test cycles. Samples were collected that were representative of the complete cycles and distributions were found to be very similar, both with respect to cycle and vehicle.

Both references,^{114,115} although dealing with emissions over a test cycle, do not attempt transient monitoring. Recent work by MIRA⁸⁴ describes work which monitors one size range of particulate over transient testing (both gasoline and diesel). Similar work by Panne¹¹⁶ uses two DMPS in parallel to study transient particle sizing.

Measurement of particle size in exhaust has not been restricted to diesels. Analysis of particles from a 2-stroke engine has been conducted by Patschull⁶⁵ using the SMPS. There are also several other references to gasoline particle size distributions.^{64, 69, 106-109} Recent work by MIRA⁷³ has used the SMPS to investigate size range and number distribution from both diesel and gasoline engines under steady state conditions. This shows the mass of gasoline particulates to be much lower than diesel overall but the numbers to be comparable at selected speed and load, where indeed the gasoline particles are much smaller. Kittelson has recently

presented work¹¹⁰ performed on all automotive particulate which confirms the work of MIRA.

In addition to the analysis of engine out particles, there are a number of references looking at the effect of exhaust after-treatment on particle size and distribution.^{54, 74, 111} Although traps and filters can remove particles effectively from engine exhaust, there is a potential for the downstream formation of secondary particles.⁵⁴

There is very little information available concerning fuel effects on particulate size and number. However, Baumgard and Johnson¹¹² have investigated the effect of low sulphur diesel fuel and have concluded that although the size of particulate is not affected the number of particles emitted are greatly reduced when the low sulphur fuel is used.

8. CONCLUSIONS

An automotive particulate consists primarily of a carbon core onto which other chemical species (both organic and inorganic) are adsorbed. The exact chemistry of the particulate will depend on fuel type, engine technology, speed and load conditions, plus lubricant quality. The initial carbon particulate is probably spherical, but the shape will change as the particulate cools and other species adsorb onto it. Finally, particulates may collide and join together, depending on their local environment, before being emitted to the atmosphere as an aerosol. The size of the particulate is greatly affected by external influences and there is also the possibility of exchange of chemicals between particulates and for other species in the air to adsorb onto them. As a result of these very complex interactions, aerosols are inherently unstable. This strongly suggests that the measurement of automotive exhaust particulate has only a tenuous relationship with air quality particulate inventories.

There are several different methods available for the measurement of particulate size, each with an optimum size range that can be measured. Great care needs to be exercised both in the interpretation of data and in the comparison of data generated by different techniques.

For measurement of automotive particulates, sampling from the dilution tunnel will reduce further agglomeration and will allow consistent sampling. However, this will undoubtedly give values very different for both size and number from those actually emitted from the engine and probably from those encountered in the atmosphere. It is generally accepted that sampling must be carried out isokinetically.

The advantages and disadvantages of various techniques can be summarized as follows:

- Disadvantages of the cascade impactor are that they cannot accurately measure ultrafine particulates and take too long to perform measurements which precludes real-time testing. The size limitations have been overcome by the use of low-pressure impactors and the MOUDI (Micro Orifice Uniform Deposit Impactor) which can collect particulates down to 0.05µm. The Quartz Crystal Microbalance (QCM) is another type of low pressure impactor that can also provide real-time measurement of the smaller particulates.
- Aerosol centrifuges give good size resolution (down to 0.08µm) and also have the advantage that subsequent analysis (chemical, microscopic) can be performed on the size separated fractions. The most sophisticated analytical techniques within this group are the Aerodynamic Particulate Sizer (APS) and the Aerosizer, which can measure particulates down to 0.05µm. These techniques enable real time analysis of particulates, but the technique can severely undersize both non-spherical and the smaller particulates. It was found that larger particulates were oversized by the APS and marginally undersized by the Aerosizer. Its use has not been recommended for automotive particulate assessment.
- Light Scattering has been used to characterise both the size and shape of airborne particulates. The amount of light scattered is a function of the particulate size, shape, composition and surface and hence interpretation is

difficult. The technique is not considered suitable for very small particulates $(<1\mu m)$ without sample pre-treatment.

- The use of electron microscopy (both scanning and transmission) enables a detailed analysis of the size and shape of particulates and has been successfully employed to examine diesel exhaust.
- The most referenced technique with respect to the size analysis of automotive particulate is electrical mobility. There are two widely used commercial techniques the Electrical Aerosol Analyser (EM) and the Differential Mobility Analysers (DMA). The latter are divided into several specialised instruments, e.g. Scanning Mobility Particulate Sizer (SMPS), Differential Mobility Particulate Sizer (DMPS) and Tandem Differential Mobility Analysers. A comparison of the techniques has led one researcher to the conclusion that, although the combination of the DMPS/CNC gave the most repeatable answers, the use of the EM was better for real-time analysis.

Although the EM has been used widely for the measurement of monodisperse aerosols (where the particulates are all the same size), the application to polydisperse aerosols is less well understood. Although generally good agreement between the techniques is observed, it is considered that the accuracy of the EM is affected by particulate shape. The development of both the EM and the DMPS has led to electrical mobility becoming the standard technique for the analysis of small particulates (<0.11 μ m). However, measurement of changing aerosols gives problems because of the finite time needed to perform measurements.

9. **RECOMMENDATIONS**

There are many references in the literature relating to the measurement of automotive particle sizing. The techniques used most commonly are cascade impactors, which give gravimetric analysis of sized fractions and the electrical mobility techniques which give number distributions of sized fractions. Both techniques give valuable information and any programme of work should include both types of analysis to further assess the impact of fuels, catalysts and technology on automotive particle size and distribution.

10. **REFERENCES**

- 1. EC Consolidated Emissions Directive 94/12/EC
- 2. EC Consolidated Emissions Directive 91/542/EEC
- 3. IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans Diesel and Gasoline Engine Exhausts and Some Nitorarenes. 1989 IARC, Lyon.
- 4. 'Mutagenicity of the Fractionated Organic Emissions from Diesel, Cigarette Smoke Condensate, Coke Oven and Roofing Tar in the Ames Study', A C Austin, L D Claxton and J Lewtas, Environ Mutagen 7 471-487 1985
- 5. 'Case-control Study on Occupational Exposure to Diesel Exhaust and Lung Cancer Risk', P Boffeta, R E Harris and E L Wynder, Am J Ind Med 17 (5) 577-592 1990
- 6. 'Evaluating Lung Cancer Risks from Exposure to Diesel Engine Exhaust', R G Cuddihy and R O McClellan, Risk Analysis 3 (2) 119-124 1983
- 7. 'Health Risks from Light Duty Diesel Vehicles', R G Cuddihy, W C Griffith and R O McClellan, Environ Sci Technol 18 14-21 1984
- 8. 'Effects of Particulate Air Pollution on Asthmatics', G B Perry et al, Am J Public Health 73 50-56 1983
- 9. 'Air Quality Particle Size Fraction Definitions for Health-related Sampling', ISO Tech Rpt ISO/TR7708 1983
- 10. 'Mortality and Air Pollution in London a Time Series Analysis', J Schwartz and A Marcus, Amer J Epid 131 185-194 1990
- 11. 'Particulate Air Pollution and Daily Mortality in Detroit', J Schwartz, Environ Res 56 204-213 1991
- 12. 'Size Considerations for Establishing a Standard for Inhalable Particles', F J Miller et al, J Air Pollut Control Assoc 29 610-615 1979
- 13. 'Revising the Particulate Ambient Air Quality Standard', S K Friedlander and M Lipmann, Environ Sci Technol 28 (3) 148-150 1994
- 14. 'Dry Deposition Velocities as a Function of Particle size in the Ambient Atmosphere', J J Lin, K E Noll and T M Holsen, Aerosol Sci technol 20 239-252 1994
- 15. 'Atmospheric Aerosols: Size Distribution Interpretation', K Willeke and K T Whitby, J Air Pollut Control Assoc 25 529-534 1975
- 16. 'The Size of Suspended Particulate Matter in Air', K T Whitby et al, Science (Washington DC) 183 1098-1099 1974
- 17. 'Cascade Impactors for Sizing Particulates in Emission Sources', M J Pilat et al, Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 32 (8) 508-511 1971

- 18. 'Particle Size Measurement', T Allen, Chapman and Hall, London, UK 3rd edition 1981
- 19. 'Aerosol Particle Losses in Isokinetic Sampling Probe Inlets', B Fan, A R McFarland and N K Anand, Environ Sci Technol 26 390-394 1992
- 20. 'Investigation of a Diesel Exhaust Aerosol' D B Kittelson, D F Dolan and J A Verrant SAE 780109
- 21. 'The Aerosol Size Distribution of Los Angeles Smog', K T Whitby, R B Husar and B Y H Liu, J Colloid Interface Sci 39 177-204 1972
- 'Distortion of Size Distributions by Condensation and Evaporation in Aerosol Instruments', P Biswas, C L Jones and R C Flagan, Aerosol Sci Technol 7 231-246 1987
- 23. 'Size-separating Precipitation of Aerosols in a Spinning Spiral Duct', W Stober and H Flaschbart, Environ Sci Technol 3 1280-1296 1969
- 24. 'Size Distribution and Chemical Composition of Atmospheric Particulate Nitrate in the Nagoya area', S Kadowaki, Atmos Environ 11 671-675 1977
- 25. 'Mass Distribution Data from the 1969 Pasadena Smog Experiment', D A Lundgren, J Colloid and Interface Sci, 39 (1) 205-210 1972
- 26. 'Seasonally Dependent Size Distributions of Aliphatic and Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Urban Aerosols in Densely Populated Area', M Aceves and J O Grimalt, Environ Sci Technol 27 2896-2908 1993
- 27. 'Composition and Size Distribution of Residential Wood Smoke Particles', J A Rau, Aerosol Sci Technol 10 181-192 1989
- 28. 'Size Distribution of Fine Particle Emissions from a Steam Plant with a Fluidised-bed Coal Combustor', Y-S Cheng et al, Aerosol Sci Technol 4 175-189 1985
- 29. 'Particulate Matter Associated with Vehicles on the Road II', W R Pierson and W W Brachaczek, Aerosol Sci Technol 2 1-40 1983
- 30. 'Dust Precipitation on Simple Bodies and in Air Filters' W Sell, Forsch. Gebiete Ingenieurw 2 347 1931
- 31. 'Cascade Impactors Sampling and Data Analysis', J P Lodge and T L Chan, Publishers: American Industrial Hygiene Association
- 32. 'In-stack Particle Fractionating Sampler', Graseby Andersen Bulletin 176-2
- 33. 'Comparative Bounce Properties of Particle Materials', H-C Wang and W John, Aerosol Sci Technol 8 157-172 1988
- 34. 'Inertial Gravitational, Centrifugal and Thermal Collection Techniques', V A Marple, K L Rubow and B A Olsen in 'Aerosol Measurement Priciples, Techniques and Applications', ed K Willeke and P A Baron Y Van Nostrand Reinhold

- 35. 'Calibration and Evaluation of a Real-time Cascade Impactor', C I Fairchild, L D Wheat, Am Ind Hyg Assoc J., 45 (4) 205-211 1984
- 'Size Distributions of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons and Elemental Carbon. 1.
 Sampling, measurement methods and source characterisation,' C Venkataraman, J
 M Lyons and S K Friedlander, Environ Sci Technol 7 177-185 1994
- 37. 'A Microorifice Uniform Deposit Impactor (MOUDI): description, calibration and use', V A Marple, K L Rubow and S M Behm, Aerosol Sci Technol 14 434-446 1991
- 38. 'Monitoring and Measurement of In-mine Aerosol: Diesel Emissions' B K Cantrell et al US Bureau of Mines Circular 9141 18-40 1987
- 'Diesel Exhaust Particle Size Distribution Measurement Techniques', D F Dolan, D B Kittelson and D Y H Liu, SAE 800187
- 40. 'Dust Monitor Sizes up an Airborne Killer' New Scientist 29th April 1995 p22
- 41. 'The "Conifuge": A Size-Separating Sampling Device for Airborne Particulates', K F Sawyer and W H Walton, J Sci Instrum 27 272-276 1950
- 42. 'Performance Modelling of Single Inlet Aerosol Sampling Cyclone', M E Moore and A R McFarland, Environ Sci Technol 27 1842-1848 1993
- 43. 'Cyclone Sampler Performance', M Lippmann and T L Chan, Reinhalt Luft 39 7-11 1979
- 44. 'Calibration and Use of the Aerodynamic Particle Sizer (APS-300)', P A Baron, Aerosol Sci technol, 5 55-67 1986
- 45. 'Performance of a TSI Aerodynamic Particle Sizer', B T Chen, Y S Cheng and H C Yeh, Aersol Sci technol 4 89-97 1985
- 46. 'Particle Size Analysis and Optical Properties of Particulates', A G Clarke, Diesel Particulate Course, University of Leeds 1989
- 47. 'Particle Density Correction for the Aerodynamic Particle Sizer', H C Wang and W John, Aerosol Sci Technol 6 2 191-198 1987
- 48. 'The Behaviour of Regular Shaped, Non-Spherical Particles in a TSI Aerodynamic Particle Sizer', I A Marshall, J P Mitchell and W D Griffiths, J Aerosol Sci, 22 73-89 1991
- 'The Behaviour of Spheroidal Particles in Time-of-flight Aerodynamic Particle Sizer', I
 A Marshall, J P Mitchell and W D Griffiths, J Aerosol Sci 23 Suppl 1 S297-S300
 1992
- 50. 'The APS 33B Aerodynamic particle Sizer', TSI:Biral Catalogue AP 533387 1987
- 51. 'The Determination of the Optical Properties of Airborne Particulate Emissions from Diesel Engines', S M Japar, A C Szkarlat and W R Pierson, Science of the Total Environment 36 121 1984

- 52. 'Particle Shape Discrimination using the Aerosol Shape Analysis System (ASAS)', K Reid, A T Martin and J M Clark, J Aerosol Sci 23 Suppl 1 S325-S328 1992
- 53. 'The Size Distribution of Submicrometer Particles with and about Stratocumulus Cloud Droplets on Mt Areskutan, Sweden', J Heintzberger et al, Atmos Res 24 89-101 1989
- 54. 'The Influence of a Ceramic Particle Trap on the Size Distribution of Diesel Particulate', K J Baumgard and D B Kittelson SAE 850009
- 55. 'Model 3010 Condensation Particle Counter', TSI Information Sheet P/N 1931193 Rev A 1993
- 56. 'Continuous Flow, Single-Particle-Counting Condensation Nucleus Counter', J K Agarwal and G J Sem. J Aerosol Sci 11 4 343-357 1980
- 57. 'A Submicron Aerosol Standard and the Primary, Absolute Calibration of the Condensation Nuclei Counter', B Y H Liu and D Y H Pui, J Colloid Interface Sci 47 155 1974
- 58. 'Measurement of the Size of Fine Nonspherical Particles with a Light Scattering Particle Counter', H Buettner, Aerosol Sci Technol 5 55-67 1986
- 59. 'On-line Measurement of Particle Size and Composition', O Kievit et al, J Aerosol Sci 23 Suppl 1 S301-S304 1992
- 60. 'Optical measurement of Soot Particle Size, Number Density and Temperature in a Direct Injection Diesel Engine as a Function of Speed and Load', D R Tree and D E Foster SAE 940270
- 61. 'Quantitative Characteristics of Particulates by Scanning and High Voltage Electron Microscopy', R J Lee and R M Fisher, Washington DC: National Bureau of Standards - special publication 1980
- 62. 'Diesel Exhaust Aerosol Particle Size Distributions Comparison of Theory and Experiment' D F Dolan and D B Kittelson SAE 780110
- 63. 'Roadway Measurements of Diesel Exhaust Aerosols', D F Dolan and D B Kittelson SAE 790492
- 64. 'Real Time Measurement of Volatile and Solid Exhaust Particles Using a Catalytic Stripper', I S Abdul-Khalek and D B Kittelson, SAE 950236
- 65. 'Measurement and Reduction of Particles Emitted from a Two-Stroke Engine', J Patschill and P Roth, SAE 941683
- 66. 'Experimental Comparison of Electrical Mobility Aerosol Analysers', K D Horton, J P Mitchell and A L Nicholls, TSIJ of Particle Instrum 4 1 3-19 1989
- 67. Biral private communication
- 68. "On the performance of the Electrical Aerosol Analyser', B Liu and D Pui, J Aerosol Sci 6 249-264 1975

concawe

- 69. 'The Size Distribution and Volume Concentration of Aerosols attributable to Automobiles', D F Miller et al, 67th Ann Meeting of Air Poll Control Ass, Denver, Colorado 1974
- 70. 'Aerosol Number and Mass Concentration Measurements: a Comparison of the Electrical Aerosol Analyser with other Measurement Techniques', G W Mullholland et al, J Colloid Interface Sci 77 57-67 1980
- 71. 'An Air Monitoring Network using Continuous Particle Size Distribution Monitors: connecting pollutant properties to visibility via Mie scattering calculations', A Eldering, G R Cass and K C Moon, Atmos Environ 28 2733-2749 1994
- 72. 'Scanning Electrical Mobility Spectrometer', S C Wang and R C Flagan, Aerosol Sci Technol 13 (2) 230-240 1990
- 73. MIRA Information leaflet
- 74. 'Particle Size Distribution Downstream Traps of Different Design'. A Mayer et al, SAE 950373
- 75. 'Electrical Mobility Measurements of Fine Particle Formation during Chamber Studies of Atmospheric Photochemical Reactions', R C Flagan et al, Environ Sci Technol 25 883-890 1991
- 76. 'On the Sensitivity of Particle Size to relative Humidity for Los Angeles Aerosols', P H McMurray and M R Stolzenburg, Atmos Environ 23 497-507 1989
- 77. 'Application of the Tandem Differential Mobility Analyser to Studies of Droplet Growth or Evaporation', D J Rader and P H McMurray, J Aerosol Sci 17 771-787 1986
- 'To the Relevant Diameter of Aerosol Particles in the 0.1-1 μm Transition Range', J
 Gebhart, J Aerosol Sci 23 Suppl 1 S305-S308 1992
- 79. 'Design and Evaluation of a New Low-Pressure Impactor.2.', S V Hering et al, Environ Sci Technol 13 (2) 184-188 1979
- 80. 'Performance of a Differential Mobility Analyser at Different Gas Compositions', E Karg, S K Dua and G A Ferran, J Aerosol Sci 23 Suppl 1 S389-S392 1992
- 81. 'Directory of Air Quality Monitoring Sites Active in 1977', EPA 450/2-78-048. US EPA, 1978
- 82. 'Breathing in Our Cities Urban Air Pollution and Respiratory Health', Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology, Feb 1994.
- 83. 'National primary and Secondary Ambient Air Quality Standards for Particulate Matter', US EPA, Federal Register April 30, 1971. 36 FR 8186
- 84. MIRA Industry Information Report on PM10, 94-326250
- 85. 'The Tapered Element Oscillating Microbalance as a Tool for Measuring Ambient Particulate Concentration in Real-time', E Rupprecht, M Meyer and H Patashnik, J Aerosol Sci 23 Suppl 1 S635-S638 1992

- 86. 'The Size Distribution of the Urban Aerosol in Vienna', A Berner et al, Sci Total Environ 13 245-261 1979
- 87. 'Size Distributions in Urban Aerosols', M Lippmann, In; 'Aerosols: anthropogenic and natural, sources and transport' Ann N Y Acad Sci 338 1-12 1980
- 88. 'Size Distributions of Species in Fine Particles in Denver using a Microorifice Impactor', H Hasan and T G Dzubay, Aerosol Sci Technol 6 29-39 1987
- 89. 'Atmospheric Equilibrium Model of Sulphate and Nitrate Aerosols II particle size analysis', M E Bassett and J H Seinfeld, Atmos Environ 18 1163-1170 1984
- 90. 'Measurement of Aerosol Size Distributions for nitrate and major ionic species', S M Wall, W John and J L Ondo, Atmos Environ 22 1649-1656 1988
- 91. 'Determination of the Particle Size Distribution and Chemical Composition of semivolatile organic Compounds in Atmospheric Fine Particles with a Diffusion Denuder Sampling System', H Tang, D J Eatough et al, Atmos Environ 28 939-947 1994
- 92. 'Determination of the Size Distribution and Chemical Composition of Fine Particulate Semi-volatile Material in Urban Environments using Diffusion Denuder Technology, D J Eatough et al, Inhalation Toxicol 7 691-710 1995
- 93. 'The Sizes of Particulate Trace Elements in the Atmosphere a Review', J B Milford and C I Davidson, J Air Pollut Control Assoc 35 1249-1260 1985
- 94. 'The Size of Particulate Sulphate and Nitrate in the Atmosphere a Review', J B Milford and C I Davidson, Journal Air Pollut Control Assoc 37 125-134 1987
- 95. 'Equilibrium Size of Atmospheric Aerosol Sulphates as a Function of the Relative Humidity', P Koutrakis et al, J Geophys Res (Atmos) 94 6442-6448 1989
- 96. 'Effect of Surfactant Layers on the Size Changes of Aerosol Particles as a Function of Relative Humidity', E Andrews and S M Larson, Environ Sci Technol 27 857-865 1993
- 97. 'The Characterisation of Aerosols Distributed with Respect to Size and Chemical Composition', S K Friedlander, J Aerosol Sci 1 295-307 1970
- 98. 'Procedures for Chemical Characterisation of Sized Particles in Stationary Emission Sources', K T Knapp and R L Bennett, Aerosol Sci Technol 12 1067-1074 1990
- 99. 'Mass and Composition of an Urban Aerosol as a Function of Particle Size for Several Visibility levels', R K Patterson and J Wagman, J Aerosol Sci 8 269-279 1977
- 100. 'Chemical Analysis of Size Segregated Samples of Denver's Ambient Particulate', R J Countess et al, J Air Pollut Control Assoc 31 247-252 1981
- 101. 'Vehicle Related Source Compositions from Ambient Data: the GRACE/SAFER method', R C Henry, C W Lewis and J F Collins, Environ Sci Technol 28 823-832 1994.

- 102. 'Towards the Development of a Global Inventory for Black carbon Emissions', J E Penner, H Eddleman and T Novakov, Atmos Env 27 (A) 1277-1295 1993
- 103. 'Chemical Mass Balance Source Apportionment of PM10 during the Southern California Air Quality Study', J G Watson et al, Aerosol Sci Technol 21 1-36 1994
- 104. 'Particle Size Variation in Diesel Car Exhaust', P J Groblicki and C R Begeman SAE 790421
- 105. 'Charge and Size Distribution of Particles Emitted from a DI Diesel Engine', J Patschull and P Roth, J Aerosol Sci Vol 23 Suppl 1 S229-S232 1992
- 106. 'Sources of Fine Organic Aerosol. 2. Noncatalyst and Catalyst Equipped Automobiles and Heavy Duty Diesel Trucks', W F Rogge et al Environ Sci Technol 27 636-651 1993
- 107. 'Aerosols from SI Engines', H J Fissan, H Franzen and C Helsper "Atmospheric Pollution" Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1978
- 108. 'Structure and Disposition of Particles from a Spark-Ignition Engine', D Steiner, H Burtscher and H Gross, Atmos Environ 26a 6 997-1003 1992
- 109. 'Particulate Emissions from a Catalyst Engine', S Knobloch, H Kock and H P Konig, J Aerosol Sci 23 Suppl 1 S257-S259 1992
- 110. 'Exhaust Particle Size Distribution Produced by Diesel and Spark Ignition Engines -Comparison of Theory and Experiment', D B Kittelson, D F Dolan and M C Beaver, Presentation at the Central States Section - The Combustion Institute CSS/CI-79-09 1994
- 111. 'The Influence of a Fibrous Diesel Particulate Trap on the Size Distribution of Emitted Particles', C P Fang and D B Kittelson SAE 840362
- 112. 'The Effect of Low Sulphur Fuel and a Ceramic Particle Filter on Diesel Exhaust Particle Size Distribution', K J Baumgard and J H Johnson, SAE 920566
- 113. Course Notes 'Particle Workshop' University of Loughborough, 26.3.79
- 114. 'Methods to Analyse Non-Regulated Emissions from Diesel Engines', G Lepperhoff, SAE 941952.
- 115. 'Emissions from Current Diesel Vehicles', R H Hammerle et al SAE 942043
- 116. 'Diesel Exhaust Particle Size Distribution Measurements under Dynamic Conditions', U Panne, A Petzold and R Niessner, J Aerosol Sci 26 Suppl 1 S659-660 1995